HOSPITAL PHYSICIAN[®]



Post-transplant Lymphoproliferative Disorders

HOSPITAL PHYSICIAN[®]

HEMATOLOGY BOARD REVIEW MANUAL

STATEMENT OF EDITORIAL PURPOSE

The Hospital Physician Hematology Board Review Manual is a study guide for fellows and practicing physicians preparing for board examinations in hematology. Each manual reviews a topic essential to the current practice of hematology.

PUBLISHING STAFF

PRESIDENT, GROUP PUBLISHER Bruce M. White

> **SENIOR EDITOR** Robert Litchkofski

EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT Barbara T. White

> **EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF OPERATIONS** Jean M. Gaul

NOTE FROM THE PUBLISHER:

This publication has been developed without involvement of or review by the American Board of Internal Medicine.

Post-transplant Lymphoproliferative Disorders

Contributors:

Namrata M. Shah, MD, MPH Hematology/Oncology Fellow, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, WI

Timothy S. Fenske, MD

Associate Professor of Medicine, Division of Hematology and Oncology, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, WI

Table of Contents

Introduction
Epidemiology2
Classification and Pathology2
Risk Factors for Devolopment of PTLD3
Pathogenesis4
Diagnosis and Staging5
Clinical Manifestations5
Prognosis
Treatment
Prevention
Conclusion
Board Review Questions9
References9

Copyright 2013, Turner White Communications, Inc., Strafford Avenue, Suite 220, Wayne, PA 19087-3391, www.turner-white.com. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, mechanical, electronic, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior written permission of Turner White Communications. The preparation and distribution of this publication are supported by sponsorship subject to written agreements that stipulate and ensure the editorial independence of Turner White Communications. Turner White Communications full control over the design and production of all published materials, including selection of topics and preparation of editorial content. The authors are solely responsible for substantive content. Statements expressed reflect the views of the authors and not necessarily the opinions or policies of Turner White Communications. Turner White Communications accepts no responsibility for statements and by authors and will not be liable for any errors of omission or inaccuracies. Information contained within this publication should not be used as a substitute for clinical judgment.

www.turner-white.com

Post-transplant Lymphoproliferative Disorders

Namrata M. Shah, MD, MPH, and Timothy S. Fenske, MD

INTRODUCTION

There is an increased risk of malignancy after both solid organ transplantation (SOT) and hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT). In patients who undergo SOT, the second most common malignancy after nonmelanoma skin cancers is post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders (PTLD). The term *PTLD* includes disorders ranging from benign hyperplasia to malignant lymphomas occurring in the setting of immunosuppression during SOT and HCT. The first cases of PTLD were described in renal transplant recipients in the late 1960s.^{1,2} Since then, PTLD has remained a serious and sometimes fatal complication in the post-transplant setting.

EPIDEMIOLOGY

PTLD is the most common malignancy in children who undergo SOT. Primary Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection after transplantation is the cause of this high incidence.³ In adults, PTLD is seen in up to 10% of all SOT recipients. However, different types of transplants result in varying degrees of risk of PTLD; this is thought to reflect the characteristics of both the specific tissue type and the immunosuppressive regimen used in different transplants.⁴ The incidence of PTLD is highest after small bowel transplantation (20%), followed by lung (10%), heart (6%), and liver transplants (2.8%). The incidence of PTLD is lowest in renal transplant recipients (2.3%).³ Historically, the incidence of PTLD has been highest during the first year post-transplant. A collaborative transplant study reported a PTLD incidence of 224 per 100,000 in the first year post-transplant, 54 per 100,000 in the second year, and 31 per 100,000 in the sixth year.⁵ This study also demonstrated that the incidence of PTLD during the first year after transplant was higher in combined heart-lung and lung recipients, which was attributed to more aggressive immunosuppression within the first year.⁵ However, more recent

series show a median time to PTLD onset after SOT of 30 to 40 months. 6,7

PTLD is comparatively less common after allogeneic HCT, although it is still a potentially fatal complication in this setting. In large retrospective studies, PTLD occurred in 0.5% to 2.5% of patients after HCT, with the peak incidence occurring between 2 and 6 months post-transplant.^{4,8-10} Nearly all cases of early-onset PTLD after HCT are associated with EBV infection. Lateonset PTLD following HCT can also occur, with some cases being EBV-negative or of T-cell origin in this setting.^{11,12}

CLASSIFICATION AND PATHOLOGY

The classification of PTLD is based on the histopathologic appearance of the tumor and is categorized according to the 2008 World Health Organization (WHO) classification.¹³ The 4 WHO categories of PTLD are early lesions, polymorphic PTLD, monomorphic PTLD, and classical Hodgkin lymphoma. In the United States and Europe, most PTLD lesions (>85%) are of B cell origin, and more than 80% of these are EBV-positive. Early lesions maintain normal tissue architecture and present with 2 histological patternsplasmacytic hyperplasia and an infectious mononucleosis-like form. Polymorphic PTLD is composed of a combination of lymphoid cells including small- to medium-sized lymphocytes, immunoblasts, and mature plasma cells with degradation of the underlying architecture. Polymorphic lesions may be either polyclonal or monoclonal but do not meet the diagnostic criteria for B-cell or T/NK cell lymphoma.14

The most common form of PTLD is monomorphic PTLD.¹⁵ Monomorphic lesions include monoclonal lymphoid proliferations and are divided into B-cell PTLD and T-cell PTLD. Monomorphic B-cell PTLDs include diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL), the largest category of monomorphic lesions, followed by Burkitt lymphoma. Monomorphic B-cell PTLD also includes plasma cell myeloma and plasmacytoma-like lesions. Monomorphic T-cell PTLD, including T/NK

cell lesions, is rare and occurs in approximately 15% of PTLD. The majority of T-cell lesions are EBV-negative,¹⁶ whereas the majority of NK lesions are EBV-positive.¹⁷ T-cell PTLDs are further divided into peripheral T-cell lymphomas and rare types such as gamma-delta T-cell lymphomas and hepatosplenic T-cell lymphomas. T-cell PTLD usually occurs later and carries a poorer prognosis than B-cell PTLD. Though there may not be an association with EBV infection, there is an increasing incidence of T-cell lymphomas in Japan due to the higher prevalence of human T-lymphotrophic virus type 1 (HTLV-1).¹⁸ Classical Hodgkin lymphoma–type PTLD is rare and is usually found as a late complication post-transplant.¹⁵

RISK FACTORS FOR DEVELOPMENT OF PTLD

AFTER SOLID ORGAN TRANSPLANTATION

There are many risk factors that contribute to the development of PTLD after SOT. The factor which strikingly elevates the risk of developing PTLD is primary EBV infection occurring after transplantation when an EBV-seronegative recipient receives an allograft from an EBV-seropositive donor.19 Several single-center analyses have demonstrated a 10- to 76fold greater incidence of PTLD in EBV-seronegative recipients.¹⁹⁻²⁵ The link between an EBV-seronegative recipient and PTLD development was first recognized in 1985.26 This is more of a concern in pediatric transplant recipients because over 90% of the adult population already has immunity to EBV.^{27,28} Other risk factors include the amount and duration of immunosuppression along with transplant type. The type of SOT not only determines the amount of immunosuppression, but also carries specific biologic characteristics which may contribute to risk. For example, in lung transplants bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue can carry EBVinfected donor lymphocytes.3 Late-onset PTLD is associated with several risk factors, including EBV-negative status, older recipient age, and the duration rather than the type of immunosuppression.²⁹

Individual immunosuppressants are also risk factors for PTLD. These include tacrolimus and cyclosporine, which are the backbone of most immunosuppressive regimens.³⁰ Their use initially was associated with an increased incidence of PTLD, but using lower doses appears to decrease this risk.^{4,29} The use of antilymphocyte antibodies for prophylaxis or treatment of acute rejection is also implicated as a risk factor. These include T-cell depleting antibodies such as OKT3, which is a monoclonal antibody against CD3, and antithymocyte globulin (ATG).⁵ OKT3 not only disables the function of cytotoxic T cells, but also heightens cytokine activity, allowing amplification of EBV-infected B cells.³⁰ Analysis of the Collaborative Transplant Study database of approximately 200,000 patients demonstrated that use of either OKT3 or ATG was associated with a 3to 4-fold increased risk of PTLD.⁵ It appears that the combined effect of immunosuppression rather than any one agent determines the incidence of early-onset PTLD.⁴

Infection with hepatitis C virus and human herpesvirus-8 (HHV-8) post-transplant may also increase the risk of PTLD.^{31–33} Age younger than 10 years or older than 60 years has also been associated with increased risk of PTLD.⁵ For patients over 60 years of age, the increased incidence of PTLD may be associated with less efficient immune surveillance of EBV-infected lymphocytes.¹⁴ If risk factors are combined (pretransplant EBV seronegativity, cytomegalovirus mismatch, and OKT3 exposure), they have a synergistic effect contributing to a 500-fold increased risk of PTLD after SOT, compared to those without any of these factors.²³

AFTER HEMATOPOIETIC CELL TRANSPLANTATION

The primary factor contributing to the development of PTLD after allogeneic HCT is T-cell depletion of the donor hematopoietic marrow or peripheral blood stem cell product.9 Those patients undergoing myeloablative conditioning regimens with administration of T-cell depleting antibodies have a higher risk of developing EBV-associated PTLD, since development of the EBV-specific cytotoxic T-cell response in the marrow recipient is delayed.³⁴ T-cell-depleting agents which selectively target T-cell and/or T/NK cell populations are associated with a higher risk of PTLD than those that deplete both T and B cells such as alemtuzumab.9,35,36 The degree of HLA-mismatching also predisposes to PTLD, with a 4.3-fold increased risk of PTLD documented in those with an HLA mismatched donor.³⁷ An international multicenter study of more than 25,000 patients identified additional predisposing factors for PTLD after allogeneic HCT, including the presence and/or severity of graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) and age older than 50 years at the time of transplantation.9 Similar to SOT, EBV serology remains a risk factor for PTLD development in HCT. Specifically, the combination of an EBV-seronegative recipient and an EBV-seropositive donor strongly increases PTLD risk.8 Post-HCT PTLD may still occur in EBV-seropositive recipients with a seropositive donor, but it is very rare for PTLD to occur after HCT when an EBV-seronegative donor is utilized.8 Cytomegalovirus seropositivity in



Figure. Pathophysiology of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-positive post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD). EBV enters B lymphocytes through interaction with the EBV receptor CD21. EBV-infected B cells then undergo proliferation and express viral latency genes, including Epstein-Barr nuclear antigens (EBNA) and latent membrane protein (LMP). This leads to a primary EBV-restricted cytotoxic T-cell (CTL) response, which is only partly effective. The EBV-infected B cells are then able to establish a persistent infection (latency) in memory B cells. These memory B cells have a more limited expression of viral antigens, which leads to a secondary CTL response. These secondary CTLs counteract the ongoing proliferation of the memory B cells, and a balance is established. Immunosuppression perturbs this balance, which can then lead to uncontrolled EBV-driven proliferation and PTLD.

either the donor or recipient may also increase the risk of PTLD after HCT. 8

When multiple risk factors are combined, patients at particularly high risk for PTLD after HCT can be identified. For example, using 4 risk factors (T-cell depletion using selective T-cell depletion methods, use of ATG to prevent or treat acute GVHD, use of an HLA-mismatched donor in association with selective T-cell depletion or ATG therapy, and age >50 years at transplant), the cumulative risk of PTLD at 12 years ranged from 0.2% to 8.1%.⁹ Another study identified 3 risk factors for PTLD development: HLA mismatch, EBV serology mismatch, and splenectomy. The incidence of PTLD was 0.26% for patients with none of these risk factors, 8.2% for those with 1 risk factor, and 35.7% for those with 2 risk factors; in this study, the overall rate of PTLD was 2.5%.⁸

PATHOGENESIS

After SOT the majority of PTLD cases are of recipient origin, whereas after HCT the majority of PTLD cases are of donor origin.¹⁴ As described above, in many cases EBV is intricately involved with the patho-

genesis of PTLD (Figure). The majority of PTLD lesions arise from either primary EBV infection or from EBV reactivation, since most adults are already EBV-seropositive at the time of transplantation.^{38–40} EBV is a gamma-herpesvirus acquired by over 90% of the world's population by adolescence.⁴¹ EBV persists throughout the host's lifetime.³⁰ During primary infection, EBV infects B lymphocytes by interacting with the B-cell EBV receptor CD21. EBV-infected B cells proliferate and express EBV-encoded proteins, and of these proteins Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen (EBNA) and latent membrane protein (LMP) are the most important.³ The expression of EBV-encoded proteins leads to a primary cytotoxic T-cell response. However, EBV-infected B cells are not completely eliminated by this initial cytotoxic T-cell response. LMP1, which prevents apoptotic signaling, then drives infected cells into a latent phase.³ These memory cells downregulate EBV-encoded proteins, but there remains enough expression to promote a secondary cytotoxic T-cell response. The ongoing proliferation balances the destruction of EBV-infected B cells and EBV persists as a subclinical infection. With immunosuppression, the balance is shifted towards B-cell proliferation, leading to EBV-driven lymphoproliferation.⁴² With continued

immunosuppression, some of these B cells undergo a selective proliferation advantage by acquiring bcl-6 mutations,43 c-myc rearrangements, or p53 tumor suppressor gene disruptions.^{3,44–46} This transitions polyclonal proliferations into oligoclonal or monoclonal proliferations.³⁰ Though the majority of transplant recipients are EBV-seropositive and receive immunosuppression, only a minority develop PTLD. It is therefore thought that other stimuli must be involved in the pathogenesis of EBV-driven lymphoproliferation.³ Additional stimuli may include chronic B-cell stimulation by alloantigen and cytokines. For example, tumor biopsies have demonstrated a CD4 T-cell infiltrate and increased levels of interleukin (IL)-4, IL-6, and IL-10 along with interferon (IFN)-α.47-50 Decreased expression of IFN-α may also contribute to PTLD.³⁰

Not all cases of PTLD result from EBV-driven lymphoproliferation.³ EBV-negative PTLD is increasingly recognized as a separate entity from EBV-positive PTLD. There appears to be an increasing incidence of EBV-negative PTLD, which has been attributed to changing immunosuppressive regimens, improved diagnostic techniques for PTLD, implementation of "preemptive" early therapy of PTLD with rituximab, and longer overall survival of patients post-transplant.51,52 EBV-negative PTLD occurs later, with a median time of 50 to 60 months post-transplant, has more aggressive features, and is more commonly of the monomorphic subtype.^{52,53} The pathogenesis of EBV-negative PTLD remains uncertain. The dynamic among genetic aberrancy, viral oncogenicity, immunosuppression, and chronic antigen stimulation underlies both EBV-negative and EBV-positive PTLD, leading to a variety of lymphoproliferative disorders.⁴¹

DIAGNOSIS AND STAGING

The gold standard for diagnosing PTLD is pathologic examination of tissue after an excisional biopsy. In cases where PTLD involving an allografted organ is suspected, a fine-needle aspirate may be the only feasible biopsy option.³¹ In addition to pathologic evidence of monoclonality or oligoclonality, demonstration of disruption of underlying tissue architecture by a lymphoproliferative process and evidence of EBV infection are important factors in establishing a diagnosis of PTLD.

Available assays relating to EBV infection include EBV serology, viral load determination, or detection of EBV nucleic acids or proteins within tissue.³² The gold standard for diagnosing EBV-positive PTLD is in situ hybridization targeting EBV-encoded small

nuclear RNA (EBER).54,55 EBER expression occurs in all types of EBV latency.⁵⁶ EBV-latent antigens in tissue may also be detected by immunohistochemistry using antibodies against EBNA-1, EBNA-2, and LMP1.55 Serologic testing, including EBV antiviral capsid antigen IgM and IgG antibodies, anti-early antigen, and anti-EBNA, is ubiquitous, but it is unreliable in immunosuppressed patients due to either delayed or absent humoral responses.^{29,41} EBV viral load is also used for diagnosis since an elevated viral load quantified by EBV-DNA polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is an established risk factor for EBV-related PTLD.^{57,58} Some centers routinely follow viral load in transplant recipients and preemptively treat those with a positive EBV PCR. This practice may decrease the frequency of overt EBV-related PTLD.⁵⁹ There is no consensus on the frequency of testing but rather this is dependent on existing institutional protocols. The limitations of viral load monitoring are the lack of an international standard reference and reporting units.60

A baseline work-up includes laboratory tests such as a complete blood count, differential, comprehensive metabolic panel, uric acid, lactate dehydrogenase, and HIV and hepatitis serologies. A lumbar puncture is recommended if central nervous system (CNS) involvement is suspected. Pretreatment assessment should also include a staging computed tomography scan of the neck, chest, abdomen, and pelvis and/or a positron emission tomography scan. Bone marrow biopsy is performed in some cases, particularly if cytopenias are present.¹⁵ There is no staging system which fully encompasses the spectrum of PTLD; however, at present the Ann Arbor staging classification system is used.

CLINICAL MANIFESTATIONS

The clinical presentation of PTLD varies depending on the location and degree of organ involvement. Symptoms may include lymphadenopathy, weight loss, fatigue, and fever. HCT recipients may present with fulminant PTLD with disseminated systemic disease clinically resembling septic shock.⁶¹ The classic presentation of diffuse lymphadenopathy is less commonly seen with PTLD as compared with lymphoma in the nontransplant setting.⁶² Extranodal involvement is common and may include the gastrointestinal tract, lung, kidney, skin, bone marrow, and CNS.^{6,52,63,64} The gastrointestinal tract is the most commonly affected extranodal site (22%–25%).^{63,65} CNS involvement occurs in 10% to 20% of cases,^{66–68} with kidney recipients having the highest incidence.^{66,69} Allograft involvement may occur in 30% of patients and is especially common after lung transplantation.³

PROGNOSIS

A number of variables have been associated with overall survival for PTLD. In a recent French registry study of 500 patients with PTLD after kidney transplantation, factors associated with inferior survival were age greater than 55 years at diagnosis, serum creatinine greater than 133 µmol/L, elevated lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), disseminated PTLD, CNS PTLD, T-cell PTLD, monomorphic PTLD, and serous membrane invasion. A 5-point prognostic score was constructed using the following variables: age greater than 55 years, serum creatinine greater than 133 µmol/L, elevated LDH, disseminated PTLD, and monomorphic histology. Patients were classified as low risk (score of 0), moderate risk (score of 1), high risk (score of 2-3), and very high risk (score of 4-5). Five-year overall survival was 92%, 83%, 59%, and 25%, respectively.⁷⁰ A large retrospective observational study from the University of Michigan of patients undergoing SOT between 1964 and 2007 identified 78 patients with PTLD. In this study, Ann Arbor stage III or IV, CNS involvement, and international prognostic index (IPI) scores of 3 to 5 were associated with a significantly higher risk of death.⁵⁶ In a recent study of 97 patients with PTLD after SOT who were managed with reduction in immunosuppression alone or surgical resection followed by reduction of immunosuppression, predictors of poor survival were age greater than 50 years, presence of B symptoms, bone marrow and liver involvement, HCV infection, an elevated LDH, and dyspnea.⁷¹

Over the past decade, a new treatment paradigm of incorporating rituximab into first-line treatment has evolved. Several recent analyses have reexamined PTLD prognosis in the rituximab era. A multicenter analysis of 80 patients who developed PTLD after SOT found 3 factors predictive of progression and survival: CNS involvement, bone marrow involvement, and hypoalbuminemia. Using these 3 factors (0, 1, or 2-3), 3-year survival was 93%, 68%, and 11%, respectively.⁷² A recent analysis of 60 post-SOT PTLD patients treated with rituximab identified 3 risk factors predictive of survival: age ≥ 60 years, ECOG performance status \geq 2, and an elevated LDH. Patients with 0, 1, or 2 or 3 factors had a 1-year survival of 100%, 79%, and 36%, respectively, and a 2-year survival of 88%, 50%, and 0%, respectively.73 Though CNS disease is associated with

poor prognosis, improved outcome with rituximab and/or high-dose methotrexate has been demonstrated. $^{15}\,$

TREATMENT

REDUCTION OF IMMUNOSUPPRESSION

The goal of treatment is cure of the PTLD along with preservation of graft function.14 However, there is no unifying consensus on the approach to treating PTLD due to a paucity of prospective phase II studies and few, if any, randomized phase III trials.^{15,29} Rather, the initial management is dependent on the specific clinical scenario and PTLD type. Treatment may involve reduction of immunosuppression (RIS), rituximab, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, surgery, or a combination of these strategies (Table).74-80 The treatment paradigm for PTLD generally calls for RIS as the initial intervention.⁸¹ Implementation of RIS theoretically allows partial restoration of host cytotoxic T-cell function, resulting in elimination of infected lymphocytes.³ The morphologic classification of PTLD may determine response to RIS. Those patients more likely to respond to RIS include those with early lesions and polyclonal PTLD. Monoclonal tumors, especially those with bcl-6 expression, are usually unresponsive to RIS as the sole treatment.^{82,83} EBV-positive PTLD is also more likely to respond to RIS.84

There are, however, several potential problems that can arise with RIS. One concern is the risk of graft rejection and organ failure. Dose reduction is dependent upon the extent of disease and whether the patient has a life-sustaining graft such as a heart transplant. As an example, the dose of cyclosporine or tacrolimus may be reduced over 4 to 6 weeks to achieve trough levels of around 25% to 50% of the levels that were observed in the patient leading up to the diagnosis of PTLD. Many clinicians recommend a 50% reduction in immunosuppression unless this is felt to pose an unacceptably high risk of graft rejection. In addition, antiproliferative agents such as azathioprine or mycophenolate should be dosereduced or discontinued.3 A second concern with RIS is the long time to response, since early lesions may take 3 to 5 weeks or longer to improve. Those with multi-organ involvement often require more intensive upfront treatment to facilitate a more rapid clinical response. The third concern is that RIS is often inadequate as the sole treatment modality for aggressive disease. Using RIS as the sole treatment modality is associated with complete remission rates of 0 to 50%.56,85-88 A recent study identified patients who would not achieve complete remission

	N	EBV Association, %	Treatment: Upfront	Treatment	ORR,% (95% CI)	Median OS (mo)
Choquet et al ⁷⁶	43	66	RIS	Rituximab x 4	44 (30–59)	14.9
Gonzales-Barca et al ⁷⁷	38	70	RIS	Rituximab x 4–8	66 (50–79)	42
Oertel et al ⁷⁵	17	59	RIS	Rituximab x 4	59 (36–78)	37
Gross ⁸⁰	55	100*	RIS	Rituximab + CP	69 (57–84)	>58†
Trappe ⁷⁴	74	44	RIS	Rituximab x 4 + CHOP x 4	90 (79–96)	79
Blaes et al ⁷⁸	11	86	ris Chop	Rituximab x 4 with repetition every 6 mo until progression	64 (35–85)	14
Haque et al ⁷⁹	33	100*	RIS	Allogeneic EBV-specific	64 (47–78)	>24†
			Rituximab ± antivirals Chemother- apy ± radio- therapy	cytotoxic T cells		

Table. Resu	Its of Prospect	ive Phase II C	Clinical Trials in	Post–Solid	Organ Trans	splant PTLD
-------------	-----------------	----------------	--------------------	------------	-------------	-------------

*Inclusion criteria for study.

[†]Median OS not yet reached.

CHOP = cyclophosphamide (750 mg/m²) on day I, doxorubicin (50 mg/m²) on day I, vincristine (I.4 mg/m²) on day I, prednisone (50 mg/m²) on days I–5, with a 2I-day cycle for a total of 2 cycles; CP = low-dose cyclophosphamide + prednisone; EBV = Epstein-Barr virus; ORR = overall response rate; OS = overall survival; RIS = reduced immunosuppression.

with RIS.⁸⁷ Those patients with an elevated LDH level and multi-organ involvement were less likely to respond to RIS. However, in a separate study, age younger than 50 years, nonbulky disease (mass <7cm), and localized disease (Ann Arbor stage 1–2) predicted a higher chance to respond to RIS alone.⁷¹

RITUXIMAB

Rituximab is a chimeric monoclonal antibody targeted at the B-cell receptor CD20, which is expressed on both mature and immature B lymphocytes. Rituximab is generally very well tolerated with low toxicity; however, there is limited long-term experience with PTLD.^{89,90} Furthermore, exactly when rituximab should be introduced in the treatment algorithm is a matter of debate. Most studies have examined rituximab for patients who have failed to respond to RIS. However, a recent multicenter retrospective analysis demonstrated a benefit in using rituximab earlier in the treatment course.⁷² There was significantly improved progression-free survival and overall survival with initial concurrent rituximab and RIS. Several nonrandomized phase II clinical trials have employed rituximab for post-SOT PTLD, generally after failure of RIS. In these studies, an overall response rate of 44% to 66% has been observed, with a median survival between 14 and 42 months documented (Table).

Studies have also examined factors predicting response to rituximab. For example, a recent analysis developed a risk score for identifying patients likely to respond to the combination of RIS and rituximab monotherapy. In one study, the 2 factors predictive of progression-free survival were an elevated LDH and time to development of PTLD after transplantation.⁷³ The factors that were predictive of poor overall survival were age greater than 60 years, impaired performance status, and elevated LDH. Given these results, a strategy that includes upfront RIS, rituximab, and chemotherapy may be beneficial for such "high-risk" patients.

CHEMOTHERAPY

Prior to the advent of rituximab, PTLD was commonly treated with chemotherapy. Regimens designed for aggressive non-Hodgkin lymphomas such as CHOP (cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisone) are most commonly employed.^{3,91} Because chemotherapy is associated with a higher risk of serious infectious complications in patients on immunosuppression,³ it may be prudent to reserve chemotherapy as a salvage therapy for those who either are unlikely to achieve durable remission with RIS and rituximab or who fail to achieve remission after 8 weeks of RIS and rituximab

monotherapy.¹⁵ Although CHOP is the most widely used chemotherapy, such anthracycline-containing regimens should be used cautiously in heart transplant patients. In situations where a rapid clinical response is desired (such as those with organ compromise or high-grade lymphoma), chemotherapy is often employed as part of initial treatment. A retrospective analysis in which CHOP was used as initial treatment along with RIS in monomorphic PTLD patients demonstrated a complete response rate of 69% and a 5-year disease-free survival of 62%.92 The authors concluded that patients with morphologically high-grade PTLD should receive initial treatment with chemotherapy. In cases with highly aggressive histology (such as Burkitt lymphoma), chemotherapy is recommended as part of the initial therapy. However, in patients who are status post renal transplant, standard Burkitt lymphoma regimens (such as the hyper-CVAD or Magrath regimens) may not be feasible because these regimens incorporate high doses of alkylating agents and high-dose methotrexate, which pose a significant risk of toxicity in transplant patients (particularly patients with kidney transplants). In such cases, alternative regimens (such as R-CHOP or R-EPOCH) may be preferred, although it should be emphasized that there is no standard regimen for Burkitt PTLD.93

Many clinicians utilize a "staged" approach to PTLD therapy, in which RIS ± rituximab is employed first. Those who do not achieve remission with this approach are then treated with chemotherapy \pm rituximab. A recently published prospective trial of 74 patients followed this type of approach. Patients who failed to respond to upfront RIS were eligible for protocol therapy, which consisted of 4 weekly infusions of rituximab, followed by 4 cycles of CHOP chemotherapy. This approach resulted in excellent overall and complete response rates of 90% and 68%, respectively.⁷⁴ These results appear improved in comparison to prior prospective studies of RIS + rituximab in which most patients who failed RIS + rituximab later went on to receive chemotherapy. The authors therefore argued for earlier application of chemotherapy in patients failing RIS. However, retrospective comparisons across phase II trials are subject to bias, and a direct comparison of RIS + rituximab (followed by chemotherapy if necessary) versus RIS (followed by rituximab + chemotherapy, if necessary) has not been performed to date.

RADIATION OR SURGICAL THERAPY

Localized therapy with radiation may be an option in certain clinical situations as an adjunct to RIS. Radiation therapy is also used for local treatment and may successfully treat CNS PTLD. Several studies have demonstrated low mortality rates and encouraging response rates.^{94,95} Surgical resection may be accomplished for isolated PTLD lesions, and tumor debulking may be necessary for treatment of complications such as bowel perforation.²⁸

INVESTIGATIONAL APPROACHES

Other areas of investigation include cytokine-based therapies, mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitors, adoptive T-cell therapy, and antiviral therapies. Anti-IL-6 monoclonal antibody therapy is an area under investigation since IL-6 levels are elevated in most PTLD patients.³ The use of mTOR inhibitors in management is a current area of exploration since activation of the mTOR signaling pathway in tissue is found in all PTLD subtypes. Furthermore, because of their immunosuppressant activity, mTOR inhibitors may have a dual role in management. For example, an mTOR inhibitor such as sirolimus can be utilized for post-transplant immune suppression, but may also have a therapeutic benefit for PTLD because of the anti-lymphoma properties of mTOR inhibitors.

Adoptive T-cell therapy with EBV-specific cytotoxic T-cell lymphocytes (CTL) has been used successfully, particularly in HCT-related PTLD.96-99 In post-HCT PTLD, CTLs from the donor target the B-cell tumors of donor origin. In a recent study, EBV-CTLs resulted in a complete or partial remission in 68% of biopsy-proven EBV-positive PTLD after HCT. About half of these patients had received rituximab with either no response or a short-lived response. In those who responded, the infusion resulted in an exponential increase in EBV-specific CTLs followed by resolution of the EBV viremia.¹⁰⁰ PTLD after SOT is of recipient origin and CTLs from the recipient are necessary to effectively target EBV-infected B cells.3 It is possible to create autologous anti-EBV-specific CTLs from recipients who are EBV-seropositive before transplantation, although this may take 10 to 14 weeks. Autologous CTL have been shown to reduce viral load and induce regression of established PTLD.^{101,102} Using autologous EBVspecific CTL combined with chemotherapy or rituximab has led to complete response in PTLD patients unresponsive to RIS.¹⁰³ Though allogeneic EBV-specific CTLs have been used, they must be closely HLAmatched to prevent their rejection.¹⁰⁴

There is no clearly proven benefit of antiviral therapy in the treatment of PTLD. Acyclovir and ganciclovir are thymidine kinase inhibitors which decrease lytic viral replication of EBV-infected cells, ultimately lowering viral load and preventing EBV infection of memory B cells.^{3,105} However, these agents are ineffective against latent EBV infection, since they do not attack cells in the latent phase or transformed B cells. This is due to the fact that EBV transformed cells do not express thymidine kinase, which is necessary to metabolize these antiviral agents into their active form.^{2,99} A new and developing approach to this problem is the use of arginine butyrate, which induces thymidine kinase expression in EBV-infected cells, thereby making them susceptible to ganciclovir.¹⁰⁶

PREVENTION

Several studies have examined different approaches to target patients at risk for PTLD to ultimately reduce its incidence. Risk factors utilized to identify such patients have included primary EBV infection or rising EBV viral load, type of allograft, and high doses of immunosuppressants. Those at a higher risk may require increased surveillance for PTLD. Monitoring viral load is one strategy under development. A rise in EBV viral load over a short time course or positivity in an initially EBV-negative patient is concerning.¹⁰⁷ However, only a minority of those with elevated EBV loads actually develop PTLD. In addition, there is often discordance between the viral load and PTLD development. For example, some PTLD patients may have low EBV viral loads.¹⁰⁸ Additional studies are needed to examine EBV viral load and its relationship to PTLD. If high-risk patients could be reliably identified, preventive techniques might include minimization of immunosuppression, infusion of EBV-specific CTLs, or the use of new antiviral strategies. One study used CTLs for prophylaxis by identifying high-risk patients undergoing HCT. None of the patients who received CTLs prophylactically developed PTLD.¹⁰⁹ Antivirals decrease lytic replication of EBV-infected cells, ultimately lowering the viral load and preventing EBV infection of memory B cells.^{3,105} Comparisons of PTLD incidence between those receiving antiviral therapy and those without it demonstrate that both acyclovir or ganciclovir may decrease its risk.110-112 However, PTLD has been reported in those receiving antivirals, and therefore the use of antiviral agents for this purpose remains controversial. Strategies for early detection remain an important tool deserving further investigation.

CONCLUSION

Despite definite advances in treatment, PTLD remains a serious and sometimes fatal complication in

www.hpboardreview.com

patients undergoing SOT and HCT. Future studies, ideally prospective randomized clinical trials, are needed to determine the optimal timing and combination of RIS, rituximab, and combination chemotherapy. In addition, prospective clinical trials are needed to explore novel investigational approaches such as antiviral agents, adoptive T-cell therapy, and mTOR inhibitors for both prophylaxis and treatment of PTLD.

BOARD REVIEW QUESTIONS

Test your knowledge of this topic. Go to www.turner-white.com and select Hematology from the drop-down menu of specialties.

REFERENCES

- Doak PB, Montgomerie JZ, North JD, Smith F. Reticulum cell sarcoma after renal homotransplantation and azathioprine and prednisone therapy. Br Med J 1968;4:746–8.
- Penn I, Hammond W, Brettschneider L, Starzl TE. Malignant lymphomas in transplantation patients. Transplant Proc 1969;1:106–12.
- Taylor AL, Marcus R, Bradley JA. Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders (PTLD) after solid organ transplantation. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2005;56:155–67.
- Cockfield SM. Identifying the patient at risk for post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder. Transpl Infect Dis 2001;3:70–8.
- Opelz G, Dohler B. Lymphomas after solid organ transplantation: A collaborative transplant study report. Am J Transplant 2004;4:222–30.
- Leblond V, Dhedin N, Mamzer Bruneel MF, et al. Identification of prognostic factors in 61 patients with posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorders. J Clin Oncol 2001;19:772–8.
- Ghobrial IM, Habermann TM, Maurer MJ, et al. Prognostic analysis for survival in adult solid organ transplant recipients with post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disorders. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:7574–82.
- Sundin M, Le Blanc K, Ringden O, et al. The role of HLA mismatch, splenectomy and recipient Epstein-Barr virus seronegativity as risk factors in post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Haematologica 2006;91:1059–67.
- Landgren O, Gilbert ES, Rizzo JD, et al. Risk factors for lymphoproliferative disorders after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Blood 2009;113:4992–5001.
- Juvonen E, Aalto SM, Tarkkanen J, et al. High incidence of PTLD after non-T-cell-depleted allogeneic haematopoietic stem cell transplantation as a consequence of intensive immunosuppressive treatment. Bone Marrow Transplant 2003;32:97–102.
- Zutter MM, Durnam DM, Hackman RC, et al. Secondary T-cell lymphoproliferation after marrow transplantation. Am J Clin Pathol 1990;94:714–21.
- Trimble MS, Waye JS, Walker IR, Brain MC, Leber BF. B-cell lymphoma of recipient origin 9 years after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation for T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br J Haematol 1993;85:99–102.
- 13. Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Harris NL, et al, eds. WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. 4th ed. Lyon,

France: IARC Press; 2008.

- Jagadeesh D, Woda BA, Draper J, Evens AM. Post transplant lymphoproliferative disorders: Risk, classification, and therapeutic recommendations. Curr Treat Options Oncol 2012;13:122–36.
- Parker A, Bowles K, Bradley JA, et al. Diagnosis of post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder in solid organ transplant recipients -BCSH and BTS guidelines. Br J Haematol 2010;149:675–92.
- Dockrell DH, Strickler JG, Paya CV. Epstein-Barr virus-induced T cell lymphoma in solid organ transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis 1998;26:180–2.
- Kwong YL, Lam CC, Chan TM. Post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disease of natural killer cell lineage: A clinicopathological and molecular analysis. Br J Haematol 2000;110:197–202.
- Rajakariar R, Bhattacharyya M, Norton A, et al. Post transplant Tcell lymphoma: A case series of four patients from a single unit and review of the literature. Am J Transplant 2004;4:1534–8.
- Walker RC, Paya CV, Marshall WF, et al. Pretransplantation seronegative Epstein-Barr virus status is the primary risk factor for posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorder in adult heart, lung, and other solid organ transplantations. J Heart Lung Transplant 1995;14:214–21.
- Younes BS, McDiarmid SV, Martin MG, et al. The effect of immunosuppression on posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease in pediatric liver transplant patients. Transplantation 2000;70:94–9.
- Cockfield SM, Preiksaitis JK, Jewell LD, Parfrey NA. Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder in renal allograft recipients. clinical experience and risk factor analysis in a single center. Transplantation 1993;56:88–96.
- Swinnen LJ, Costanzo-Nordin MR, Fisher SG, et al. Increased incidence of lymphoproliferative disorder after immunosuppression with the monoclonal antibody OKT3 in cardiac-transplant recipients. N Engl J Med 1990;323:1723–8.
- Walker RC, Marshall WF, Strickler JG, et al. Pretransplantation assessment of the risk of lymphoproliferative disorder. Clin Infect Dis 1995;20:1346–53.
- Ellis D, Jaffe R, Green M, et al. Epstein-Barr virus-related disorders in children undergoing renal transplantation with tacrolimusbased immunosuppression. Transplantation 1999;68:997–1003.
- Swerdlow AJ, Higgins CD, Hunt BJ, et al. Risk of lymphoid neoplasia after cardiothoracic transplantation. a cohort study of the relation to Epstein-Barr virus. Transplantation 2000;69: 897–904.
- Ho M, Miller G, Atchison RW, et al. Epstein-Barr virus infections and DNA hybridization studies in posttransplantation lymphoma and lymphoproliferative lesions: The role of primary infection. J Infect Dis 1985;152:876–86.
- Dharnidharka VR, Sullivan EK, Stablein DM, et al; North American Pediatric Renal Transplant Cooperative Study (NAPRTCS). Risk factors for posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD) in pediatric kidney transplantation: A report of the north american pediatric renal transplant cooperative study (NAPRTCS). Transplantation 2001;71:1065–8.
- Preiksaitis JK, Keay S. Diagnosis and management of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder in solid-organ transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis 2001;33 Suppl 1:S38–46.
- Allen U, Preiksaitis J, AST Infectious Diseases Community of Practice. Epstein-Barr virus and posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder in solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 2009;9 Suppl 4:S87–96.
- Cockfield SM. Identifying the patient at risk for post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder. Transpl Infect Dis 2001;3:70–8.
- 31. Buda A, Caforio A, Calabrese F, et al. Lymphoproliferative disor-

ders in heart transplant recipients: Role of hepatitis C virus (HCV) and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection. Transpl Int 2000;13 Suppl 1:S402–5.

- Manez R, Breinig MC, Linden P, et al. Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease in primary Epstein-Barr virus infection after liver transplantation: The role of cytomegalovirus disease. J Infect Dis 1997;176:1462–7.
- Tsao L, Hsi ED. The clinicopathologic spectrum of posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorders. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2007;131:1209–18.
- Gerritsen EJ, Stam ED, Hermans J, et al. Risk factors for developing EBV-related B cell lymphoproliferative disorders (BLPD) after non-HLA-identical BMT in children. Bone Marrow Transplant 1996;18:377–82.
- Hale G, Waldmann H. Risks of developing Epstein-Barr virusrelated lymphoproliferative disorders after T-cell-depleted marrow transplants. CAMPATH users. Blood 1998;91:3079–83.
- Weinstock DM, Ambrossi GG, Brennan C, et al. Preemptive diagnosis and treatment of Epstein-Barr virus-associated post transplant lymphoproliferative disorder after hematopoietic stem cell transplant: An approach in development. Bone Marrow Transplant 2006;37:539–46.
- Witherspoon RP, Fisher LD, Schoch G, et al. Secondary cancers after bone marrow transplantation for leukemia or aplastic anemia. N Engl J Med 1989;321:784–9.
- Cox KL, Lawrence-Miyasaki LS, Garcia-Kennedy R, et al. An increased incidence of Epstein-Barr virus infection and lymphoproliferative disorder in young children on FK506 after liver transplantation. Transplantation 1995;59:524–9.
- Newell KA, Alonso EM, Whitington PF, et al. Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease in pediatric liver transplantation. interplay between primary Epstein-Barr virus infection and immunosuppression. Transplantation 1996;62:370–5.
- Dror Y, Greenberg M, Taylor G, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders after organ transplantation in children. Transplantation 1999;67:990–8.
- Nourse JP, Jones K, Gandhi MK. Epstein-Barr virus-related posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders: Pathogenetic insights for targeted therapy. Am J Transplant 2011;11:888–95.
- Lim WH, Russ GR, Coates PT. Review of Epstein-Barr virus and post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder post-solid organ transplantation. Nephrology (Carlton) 2006;11:355–66.
- Gottschalk S, Rooney CM, Heslop HE. Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders. Annu Rev Med 2005;56:29–44.
- Harris NL, Ferry JA, Swerdlow SH. Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders: Summary of Society for Hematopathology workshop. Semin Diagn Pathol 1997;14:8–14.
- Kuppers R. B cells under influence: Transformation of B cells by Epstein-Barr virus. Nat Rev Immunol 2003;3:801–12.
- Niller HH, Salamon D, Ilg K, et al. The in vivo binding site for oncoprotein c-myc in the promoter for epstein-barr virus (EBV) encoding RNA (EBER) 1 suggests a specific role for EBV in lymphomagenesis. Med Sci Monit 2003;9:HY1–9.
- Nalesnik MA, Zeevi A, Randhawa PS, et al. Cytokine mRNA profiles in Epstein-Barr virus-associated post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders. Clin Transplant 1999;13(1 Pt 1):39–44.
- Mathur A, Kamat DM, Filipovich AH, et al. Immunoregulatory abnormalities in patients with epstein-barr virus-associated B cell lymphoproliferative disorders. Transplantation 1994;57:1042–5.
- Tosato G, Jones K, Breinig MK, et al. Interleukin-6 production in posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease. J Clin Invest 1993;91:2806–14.

- VanBuskirk AM, Malik V, Xia D, Pelletier RP. A gene polymorphism associated with posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder. Transplant Proc 2001;33(1-2):1834.
- Duvoux C, Pageaux GP, Vanlemmens C, et al. Risk factors for lymphoproliferative disorders after liver transplantation in adults: An analysis of 480 patients. Transplantation 2002;74:1103–9.
- Leblond V, Davi F, Charlotte F, et al. Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders not associated with epstein-barr virus: A distinct entity? J Clin Oncol 1998;16:2052–9.
- Nelson BP, Nalesnik MA, Bahler DW, et al. Epstein-Barr virusnegative post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders: A distinct entity? Am J Surg Pathol 2000;24:375–85.
- Fanaian NK, Cohen C, Waldrop S, et al. Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)encoded RNA: Automated in-situ hybridization (ISH) compared with manual ISH and immunohistochemistry for detection of EBV in pediatric lymphoproliferative disorders. Pediatr Dev Pathol 2009;12:195–9.
- Young L, Alfieri C, Hennessy K, et al. Expression of Epstein-Barr virus transformation-associated genes in tissues of patients with EBV lymphoproliferative disease. N Engl J Med 1989;321:1080–5.
- Knight JS, Tsodikov A, Cibrik DM, et al. Lymphoma after solid organ transplantation: Risk, response to therapy, and survival at a transplantation center. J Clin Oncol 2009;27:3354–62.
- Morgans AK, Reshef R, Tsai DE. Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder following kidney transplant. Am J Kidney Dis 2010;55:168–80.
- Tsai DE, Douglas L, Andreadis C, et al. EBV PCR in the diagnosis and monitoring of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder: Results of a two-arm prospective trial. Am J Transplant 2008;8:1016–24.
- Lee TC, Savoldo B, Rooney CM, et al. Quantitative EBV viral loads and immunosuppression alterations can decrease PTLD incidence in pediatric liver transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 2005;5:2222–8.
- Jones K, Gandhi MK. Epstein-Barr virus DNA as a biomarker for Epstein-Barr virus-positive lymphomas: Are we there yet? Leuk Lymphoma 2009;50:684–6.
- Orjuela M, Gross TG, Cheung YK, et al. A pilot study of chemoimmunotherapy (cyclophosphamide, prednisone, and rituximab) in patients with post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder following solid organ transplantation. Clin Cancer Res 2003;9(10 Pt 2):3945S–52S.
- Bates WD, Gray DW, Dada MA, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders in oxford renal transplant recipients. J Clin Pathol 2003;56:439–46.
- Caillard S, Lelong C, Pessione F, Moulin B; French PTLD Working Group. Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders occurring after renal transplantation in adults: Report of 230 cases from the french registry. Am J Transplant 2006;6:2735–42.
- Oton AB, Wang H, Leleu X, et al. Clinical and pathological prognostic markers for survival in adult patients with post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders in solid transplant. Leuk Lymphoma 2008;49:1738–44.
- Subklewe M, Marquis R, Choquet S, et al. Association of human leukocyte antigen haplotypes with posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease after solid organ transplantation. Transplantation 2006;82:1093–1100.
- Buell JF, Gross TG, Hanaway MJ, et al. Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder: Significance of central nervous system involvement. Transplant Proc 2005;37:954–5.
- Penn I, Porat G. Central nervous system lymphomas in organ allograft recipients. Transplantation 1995;59:240–4.
- 68. Cavaliere R, Petroni G, Lopes MB, Schiff D; International Primary Central Nervous System Lymphoma Collaborative Group. Primary

central nervous system post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disorder: An international primary central nervous system lymphoma collaborative group report. Cancer 2010;116:863–70.

- Bronster DJ, Emre S, Boccagni P, et al. Central nervous system complications in liver transplant recipients-incidence, timing, and long-term follow-up. Clin Transplant 2000;14:1–7.
- Caillard S, Porcher R, Provot F, et al. Post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disorder after kidney transplantation: Report of a nationwide French registry and the development of a new prognostic score. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:1302–9.
- Reshef R, Vardhanabhuti S, Luskin MR, et al. Reduction of immunosuppression as initial therapy for posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorder. Am J Transplant 2011;11:336–47.
- Evens AM, David KA, Helenowski I, et al. Multicenter analysis of 80 solid organ transplantation recipients with post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disease: Outcomes and prognostic factors in the modern era. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:1038–46.
- Choquet S, Oertel S, LeBlond V, et al. Rituximab in the management of post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disorder after solid organ transplantation: Proceed with caution. Ann Hematol 2007;86:599–607.
- Trappe R, Oertel S, Leblond V, et al. Sequential treatment with rituximab followed by CHOP chemotherapy in adult B-cell posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD): The prospective international multicentre phase 2 PTLD-1 trial. Lancet Oncol 2012;13:196–206.
- Oertel SH, Verschuuren E, Reinke P, et al. Effect of anti-CD 20 antibody rituximab in patients with post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD). Am J Transplant 2005;5:2901–6.
- Choquet S, Leblond V, Herbrecht R, et al. Efficacy and safety of rituximab in B-cell post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disorders: Results of a prospective multicenter phase 2 study. Blood 2006;107:3053–7.
- Gonzalez-Barca E, Domingo-Domenech E, Capote FJ, et al. Prospective phase II trial of extended treatment with rituximab in patients with B-cell post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease. Haematologica 2007;92:1489–94.
- Blaes AH, Peterson BA, Bartlett N, et al. Rituximab therapy is effective for posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders after solid organ transplantation: Results of a phase II trial. Cancer 2005;104:1661–7.
- Haque T, Wilkie GM, Jones MM, et al. Allogeneic cytotoxic T-cell therapy for EBV-positive posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disease: Results of a phase 2 multicenter clinical trial. Blood 2007;110:1123–31.
- Gross TG, Orjuela MA, Perkins SL, et al. Low-dose chemotherapy and rituximab for posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD): a Children's Oncology Group Report. Am J Transplant 2012;12:3069-75.
- Starzl TE, Nalesnik MA, Porter KA, et al. Reversibility of lymphomas and lymphoproliferative lesions developing under cyclosporin-steroid therapy. Lancet 1984;1(8377):583–7.
- Cesarman E, Chadburn A, Liu YF, et al. BCL-6 gene mutations in posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorders predict response to therapy and clinical outcome. Blood 1998;92:2294–302.
- Penn I. The role of immunosuppression in lymphoma formation. Springer Semin Immunopathol 1998;20(3-4):343–55.
- Dotti G, Fiocchi R, Motta T, et al. Epstein-Barr virus-negative lymphoproliferate disorders in long-term survivors after heart, kidney, and liver transplant. Transplantation 2000;69:827–33.
- Ghobrial IM, Habermann TM, Ristow KM, et al. Prognostic factors in patients with post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders

www.hpboardreview.com

(PTLD) in the rituximab era. Leuk Lymphoma 2005;46:191-6.

- Swinnen LJ, Mullen GM, Carr TJ, et al. Aggressive treatment for postcardiac transplant lymphoproliferation. Blood 1995;86: 3333–40.
- Tsai DE, Hardy CL, Tomaszewski JE, et al. Reduction in immunosuppression as initial therapy for posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder: Analysis of prognostic variables and long-term followup of 42 adult patients. Transplantation 2001;71:1076–88.
- Rees L, Thomas A, Amlot PL. Disappearance of an Epstein-Barr virus-positive post-transplant plasmacytoma with reduction of immunosuppression. Lancet 1998;352(9130):789.
- Jain AB, Marcos A, Pokharna R, et al. Rituximab (chimeric anti-CD20 antibody) for posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder after solid organ transplantation in adults: Long-term experience from a single center. Transplantation 2005;80:1692–8.
- Elstrom RL, Andreadis C, Aqui NA, et al. Treatment of PTLD with rituximab or chemotherapy. Am J Transplant 2006;6:569–76.
- Evens AM, Roy R, Sterrenberg D, et al. Post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disorders: Diagnosis, prognosis, and current approaches to therapy. Curr Oncol Rep 2010;12:383–94.
- Taylor AL, Bowles KM, Callaghan CJ, et al. Anthracycline-based chemotherapy as first-line treatment in adults with malignant posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder after solid organ transplantation. Transplantation 2006;82:375–81.
- 93. Zimmermann H, Reinke P, Neuhaus R, et al. Burkitt post-transplantation lymphoma in adult solid organ transplant recipients: sequential immunochemotherapy with rituximab (R) followed by cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisone (CHOP) or R-CHOP is safe and effective in an analysis of 8 patients. Cancer 2012;118:4715–24.
- Cacciarelli TV, Green M, Jaffe R, et al. Management of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease in pediatric liver transplant recipients receiving primary tacrolimus (FK506) therapy. Transplantation 1998;66:1047–52.
- Davis CL, Wood BL, Sabath DE, et al. Interferon-alpha treatment of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder in recipients of solid organ transplants. Transplantation 1998;66:1770–9.
- Rooney CM, Smith CA, Ng CY, et al. Use of gene-modified virusspecific T lymphocytes to control Epstein-Barr-virus-related lymphoproliferation. Lancet 1995;345(8941):9–13.
- Rooney CM, Smith CA, Ng CY, et al. Infusion of cytotoxic T cells for the prevention and treatment of Epstein-Barr virusinduced lymphoma in allogeneic transplant recipients. Blood 1998;92:1549–55.
- Wagner HJ, Cheng YC, Huls MH, et al. Prompt versus preemptive intervention for EBV lymphoproliferative disease. Blood 2004;103:3979–81.
- 99. Liu Z, Savoldo B, Huls H, et al. Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-specific

cytotoxic T lymphocytes for the prevention and treatment of EBVassociated post-transplant lymphomas. Recent Results Cancer Res 2002;159:123–33.

- 100. Doubrovina E, Olfaz-Sozmen B, Prockop SE, et al. Adoptive immunotherapy with unselected or EBV-specific T cells for biopsyproven EBV+ lymphomas after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Blood 2012;119:2644-56.
- 101. Haque T, Amlot P, Helling N et al. Reconstitution of EBV-specific T cell immunity in solid organ transplant recipients. J Immunol 1998;160:6204–9.
- 102. Comoli P, Labirio M, Basso S, et al. Infusion of autologous Epstein–Barr virus (EBV)-specific cytotoxic T cells for prevention of EBV-related lymphoproliferative disorder in solid organ transplant recipients with evidence of active virus replication. Blood 2002;99:2592–8.
- 103. Comoli P, Maccario R, Locatelli F, et al. Treatment of EBVrelated post-renal transplant lymphoproliferative disease with a tailored regimen including EBV-specific T cells. Am J Transplant 2005;5:1415–22.
- 104. Haque T, Wilkie GM, Taylor C, et al. Treatment of Epstein-Barr-virus-positive post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disease with partly HLA-matched allogeneic cytotoxic T cells. Lancet 2002;360(9331):436–42.
- 105. Funch DP, Walker AM, Schneider G, et al Ganciclovir and acyclovir reduce the risk of post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder in renal transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 2005;5:2894–900.
- 106. Perrine SP, Hermine O, Small T, et al. A phase 1/2 trial of arginine butyrate and ganciclovir in patients with epstein-barr virus-associated lymphoid malignancies. Blood 2007;109:2571–8.
- 107. Glotz D, Chapman JR, Dharnidharka VR, et al. The Seville expert workshop for progress in posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders. Transplantation 2012;94:784–93.
- Leblond V, Choquet S. Lymphoproliferative disorders after liver transplantation. J Hepatol 2004;40:728–35.
- 109. Heslop HE, Slobod KS, Pule MA, et al. Long-term outcome of EBVspecific T-cell infusions to prevent or treat EBV-related lymphoproliferative disease in transplant recipients. Blood 2010;115:925-35.
- 110. Darenkov IA, Marcarelli MA, Basadonna GP, et al. Reduced incidence of Epstein Barr virus-associated posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder using preemptive antiviral therapy. Transplantation 1997;64:848–52.
- 111. Davis CL, Harrison KL, McVicar JP, et al. Antiviral prophylaxis and the Epstein-Barr virus-related post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder. Clin Transplant 1995;9:53–9.
- 112. Keay S, Oldach D, Wiland A, et al. Posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorder associated with OKT3 and decreased antiviral prophylaxis in pancreas transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis 1998;26:596–600.

Copyright 2013 by Turner White Communications Inc., Wayne, PA. All rights reserved.